0-17 I	
IN THE	SUPREME COURT	OF FLORIDA	MAY 121994
		CLE	RK, SUPREME COURT
CHARLES P. SCHROPP,	:	, u,	Chief Deputy Clerk
Petitioner,	:	CASE NO. 83,522	2
vs.	:		
CROWN EUROCARS, INC., d/b/a CROWN MERCEDES, an	:		
ROBERT COHEN,	:		
Respondents.	:		

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RAYMOND T. ELLIGETT, JR., ESQ. Florida Bar No. 261939 MARK P. BUELL, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 217603 SCHROPP, BUELL & ELLIGETT, P.A. Landmark Centre, Suite 2600 401 East Jackson Street Tampa, Florida 33602-5226 (813) 221-2600 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

##

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
ISSUES ON APPEAL
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. THERE IS A DISTINCTION BETWEEN THE PREDICATE NECESSARY TO HOLD A CORPORATION LIABLE FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES UNDER A THEORY BASED ON BANKERS MULTIPLE LINE INSURANCE COMPANY v. FARISH, 464 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1985) AND UNDER A THEORY BASED ON WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. v. ROBINSON, 472 So. 2d 722 (Fla. 1985)
B. EVEN IF <i>BANKERS</i> AND <i>WINN-DIXIE</i> PRESENT THE SAME BASIS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, AND REQUIRE MANAGERIAL LEVEL PUNITIVE CONDUCT, SCHROPP'S EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE JURY VERDICT
II. A PARTY WHO CONTENDS A VERDICT IS INCONSISTENT MUST REQUEST THE JURY RESOLVE THE INCONSISTENCY, RATHER THAN LATER SEEKING A DIRECTED VERDICT BASED ON THE ALLEGED INCONSISTENCY
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX

-

.

- i. -

## TABLE OF CITATIONS

## <u>CASE</u>

Adoro Marketing, Inc. v. Da Silva, 623 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)
Bankers Multiple Line Insurance Co. v. Farish, 464 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1985)
Food Lion, Inc. v. Clifford, 629 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)
Hill v. Department of Corrections, 513 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1987)
Mercury Motors Express, Inc. v. Smith, 393 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1981)
North American Catamaran Racing Association, Inc. v. McCollister, 480 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) 38, 39
Rosario v. Melvin, 446 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) 43
Sweet Paper Sales Corp. v. Feldman, 603 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)
Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985)
White Construction Co., Inc. v. Dupont, 455 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 1984)
Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson, 472 So. 2d 722 (Fla. 1985)

## OTHER AUTHORITIES

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.340(a)						•		•	•			36
--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	---	---	--	--	----

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Charles P. Schropp, the plaintiff in the jury trial below, is referred to as "Schropp."

Respondent, Crown Eurocars, Inc., a defendant below, is referred to as "Crown."

References to the record on appeal are designated by the prefix "R."

References to the Second District's decision are designated by the prefix "Crown op." The opinion is included in the Appendix, along with excerpts of Crown's briefs and pleadings in the Second District which are cited in this initial brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As the Second District realized, the evidence, and all inferences which can be drawn from it, must be viewed in the light most favorable to Schropp who prevailed in the jury trial below (Crown op. 2). Because the Second District's recitation of the facts contains some mistakes and omissions, Schropp sets forth the facts surrounding Crown's sale of the automobile and its subsequent actions.

The jury in this case heard evidence of a consistent pattern of fraud and deceit which infected the entire Crown organization, to the point that virtually every Crown employee with whom Schropp or his wife had significant contact, including several Crown managers, made misrepresentations to the Schropps<sup>1</sup>. Based on the evidence of what amounted to a corporate culture of dishonesty at Crown, the jury awarded Schropp punitive damages based on direct corporate liability as authorized by this Court's decision in *Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Robinson,* 472 So.2d 722 (Fla. 1985). After originally reversing the punitive damage award on the grounds that the award could not stand because the jury had not also found Crown's sales manager liable for punitive damages, the Second District certified the case to this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See the discussion below on one honest employee, Klaus Lesnich.

# Crown's misrepresentations to Schropp and the environmental paint damage.

The events relevant to this suit began in October, 1988, when Schropp visited the Crown Mercedes-Benz dealership in St. Petersburg (R 122). Schropp negotiated with a salesperson, Paul Miller, and the sales manager, Robert Cohen, regarding the purchase of a vehicle (R 246-249, 257). At Crown's suggestion, Schropp drove a car he was considering purchasing to Tampa to pick up his wife, both then returning to the dealership (R 245, 254).

Cohen and Miller made several misrepresentations to induce Schropp to buy the car. These included false statements that Crown would provide the first two service visits, which would otherwise cost \$180, at its expense, when these visits were free to every Mercedes-Benz purchaser (R 127, 258, 293). Crown and Cohen also misrepresented that the decal pin striping on the car was handpainted, even placing the notation that the stripe was "handpainted" on the purchase invoice (R 250, 251, 376, 2049). Crown and Cohen made further misrepresentations regarding the origin of the vehicle, the cost of the vehicle, the profit being made on the vehicle, and certain equipment on it (R 248, 249, 251, 369, 2060). After negotiations in which these misrepresentations were prominent in inducing Schropp to purchase, Schropp and Crown reached an agreement to buy the vehicle (R 258).

After Schropp's purchase, the dishonesty which had permeated the sales negotiations continued unabated. One of Crown's first

-3-

misrepresentations after the sale was to back-date the certificate certifying transfer of the vehicle to Schropp to the prior month, September (R 2063). In addition to the signature of a Crown officer, the certificate contained a false notarization where the notary swore the transfer to Schropp occurred on September 18, over two weeks before he ever set foot on Crown's lot (R 2063). Crown never explained if this fraudulent back-dating was to meet a sales quota, or for some other reason.

Because Schropp bought the car on a Saturday, Crown's service department was closed and, although the car was dirty from sitting on Crown's lot, the Schropps drove the car home prior to the detailing and cleanup (R 261). To assuage their concerns, Cohen and Miller assured the Schropps that Crown employees had thoroughly inspected the car, and it was "perfect" (R 128, 252-53)<sup>2</sup>. The following Tuesday, Crown sent an employee to Schropp's home to pick up the car for a service visit including detailing and cleanup (R 262-63).

Immediately upon return of the car from this first service visit, Schropp noticed big splotches and discoloration on the car's exterior paint finish (R 263). He immediately notified Miller, who advised him these were merely "water spots" and asked Schropp to wait until the thousand-mile service visit when Crown would buff them out (R 264-65).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It turned out that Crown had not inspected the vehicle, and the document given to Schropp purportedly evidencing Crown's inspection was from another dealership from which Crown had obtained the vehicle in a dealer trade (R 677).

While the car was at Crown for the thousand-mile service visit (the second service visit), Mrs. Schropp telephoned to check on when the car would be ready. Crown's service manager (Domer Woolridge) represented to her he was watching someone buff the car to take care of the spotting problem as he spoke to her on the phone (R 133, 941). However, when Schropp went to pick up the vehicle after the service visit it had not been buffed and the spots remained (R 135, 269). Another service department employee called Mrs. Schropp and told her Crown had not buffed their car because the buffer was broken (R 134). The repair invoice for this service visit noted the problem with "spots on paint" and also stated, "UNABLE TO BUFF AT THIS TIME -- BUFFER BROKEN." (R 2051).

At trial and then in its reply brief, Crown contended it had two buffers in the fall of 1988 (R 930; A 24). Crown made this assertion in an attempt to claim that Woolridge may not have lied when he claimed he was watching the car being buffed, even though one buffer was broken. Crown evidently forgot its own sales invoice clearly stated the car had not been buffed (R 2051). Thus, Crown did not disprove Woolridge's lie, but simply told another lie in the process. In other words, Crown could have buffed Schropp's car with its second buffer, but did not do so, perhaps in a deliberate effort to conceal that the so-called "water spots" were in fact a paint defect.

After the second service visit, Schropp wrote to Crown detailing the paint problem and other concerns (R 271-73, 2086). The letter noted Crown's claim that it had been unable to buff the

-5-

car because the buffer was broken (R 272, 2086). Crown's allegedly broken buffer and its asserted inability to obtain a key for the vehicle's wheel locks delayed Schropp's third service visit for a month (R 2088, 2093-94).

Throughout this period, Crown repeatedly misrepresented to Schropp there was no pollution damage, but only water spots or nothing on the paint and that any problem would be completely corrected when its buffer was repaired and the car could be buffed (R 265, 270, 280, 629, 659). However, Crown's own employee (Klaus Lesnich) subsequently admitted that acid rain had caused the paint damage (R 138, 277). Likewise, the manufacturer, Mercedes-Benz, stated in response to requests for admissions that the car had sustained environmental damage to its finish (R 973-74; see also the manufacturer's diagram from its inspection which indicated "fallout etching" i.e., environmental damage, on the car's surface, R 2085).

On the third service visit, the vehicle was finally buffed. However, while the car was still at Crown, Crown's service employee, Klaus Lesnich, called the Schropps and told them Crown had buffed the car and done the best they could, but the damage to the paint was pollution damage (R 138, 277). He volunteered that, if Schropp was not satisfied, the next thing to do was to repaint the car, which he didn't recommend because factory paint is always better than a repainting job (R 138, 277). When Schropp got the car back, the spots had largely been removed, but the pitting and etching in the paint surface remained (R 139, 279).

-6-

Upon receiving the car back from the third service visit, Schropp immediately relayed Lesnich's conversation regarding pollution damage to Miller (R 280). Schropp also told Miller that he did not want Crown doing any further work on the car, did not view it as a new Mercedes, and wanted Crown to take the car back (R 280).

Several days later Miller called back, indicated he had spoken with Cohen and that he was calling on Cohen's behalf (R 281). He represented to Schropp that Crown had made arrangements to have a representative of Mercedes-Benz look at the car with respect to Schropp's request that Crown re-purchase the car (R 281-282). This, it turned out, was another falsehood.

Based on representations that Crown intended to show the car to Mercedes representatives at Crown's grand opening, Schropp agreed to let Crown pick up the car for a fourth service visit (R 282, 285). Miller had promised that Crown would keep the car one or two days at most (R 286). When, after several days, Schropp had not received the car back or received a call from Crown, he tried unsuccessfully to reach Miller and Cohen, but no one returned his calls (R 286).

Schropp then drove to the Crown dealership, where Miller and Cohen told him that the Mercedes-Benz representative had inspected the car and had specially authorized them to perform a special process on the car which had never before been done at a dealership, but had been performed only at the ports of entry where the cars are received into the United States (R 287).

-7-

Schropp expressed reluctance, having learned Crown and Cohen had already told him several lies, and initially refused to allow any further work on the car, stating he wanted the car replaced (R 288). Ultimately, Cohen represented to Schropp, "If you're not satisfied with the results of this special process, we will take the car back" (R 288). Based on this representation, Schropp agreed to permit the alleged special process (R 289).

As discussed below, Crown has since told different stories under oath as to whether an alleged "special process" was actually performed. There is no question, however, that anything Crown may have done was not a specially authorized process previously performed by Mercedes-Benz only at ports of entry, as Crown had represented to induce Schropp to leave his vehicle in their possession. Ultimately, after eleven days, Schropp received his car back (R 289). While there was some improvement and the pitting was reduced somewhat, there was still pitting and additional scratches Crown had put on while buffing the car (R 290).

Schropp called Crown to tell it that he was not satisfied and wanted it to buy the car back (R 291). Cohen telephoned Schropp and told him that he thought the car looked fine to him and therefore Crown was not going to replace it (R 291).

#### 2. The suit and pretrial proceedings.

In 1989, Schropp filed suit against Crown and Cohen (R 1303). Schropp amended his complaint and added Mercedes-Benz as a

- 8 -

defendant (R 1346). After acknowledging that the vehicle had sustained pollution damage to its finish (R 973-74, 2085), Mercedes-Benz ultimately settled out of the suit by repurchasing the vehicle for Schropp's full purchase price (R 385-86).

Crown's initial defensive strategy was to claim that the entire story regarding the alleged special process had been fabricated by Schropp. During discovery, Crown swore under oath in an interrogatory response that no special process, or any other process, had been performed on the paint of Schropp's car during the fourth and final service visit and all that was done was to change the wheel locks (R 510-511, 2026-27). Crown at that time claimed Schropp's allegations that Crown said it had performed a "special process" on the vehicle's paint were a lie. Cohen supported Crown's position in an affidavit in opposition to Schropp's motion for summary judgment which stated in pertinent part: "Mr. Schropp's allegations concerning any representations about any special process are unfounded." (R 671).

The interrogatories Schropp propounded requested Crown to:

"Describe in detail any and all work of any kind which was done to Plaintiff's vehicle by Crown or anyone acting on Crown's behalf between November 28, 1988, and December 9, 1988, and identify all persons or business entities who participated in any such work and all documents or evidence which reflects, relates to or mentions any such work." (R 509).

After Schropp moved to compel as to a non-responsive original answer, Crown filed an amended response which stated as follows:

Between the dates indicated, the information provided by service invoice number

830 is the only information available to this defendant other than the independent recollection of the company that resulted in work being performed thereon of Mr. Klaus Lesnich, service advisor, and Mr. Domer Woolridge, service manager, at the Eurocars dealership.

At the time, they have nothing to add about the description of work that was done as evidenced by service invoice number 830, but have information concerning the condition complained of by plaintiff and plaintiff's own actions surrounding that service visit.

If there was any additional work as alleged by plaintiff, the defendant is presently without knowledge of any such work but can categorically state that defendant's regularly kept business records which would detail such work show only the services performed on invoice number 830.

Defendant is without knowledge of what its former employee Robert Cohen may have to add to this response, but defendant's knowledge expressed herein is complete, although investigation is continuing. R 510-511 (emphasis added).

Service invoice 830, which was introduced into evidence, showed only the changing of the wheel locks on Schropp's vehicle (R 2026-27)

At trial, Crown attempted to change its position and claimed it had in fact performed a special process on Schropp's vehicle during the fourth service visit. This flip-flop included testimony by the Crown detail department manager who allegedly recalled performing the special process on Schropp's vehicle several years before, even though he detailed hundreds of vehicles each year.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Frank Butler, (R 905-906, 934, 1756), also referred to as the body shop manager, *Crown op.* 5.

Schropp then published the contradictory interrogatory response to the jury (R 510-11, 673, 906, 916, 926). Confronted with the blatant inconsistency between the sworn interrogatory response and the testimony of Crown's detail department manager, the jury was free to conclude that Crown had lied about the special process at trial, that Crown had lied in filing a false interrogatory response, or both.

3. The trial.

At trial, Schropp and his wife related their experience with Crown as set forth above. This included the numerous misrepresentations on free service visits, the origin of the vehicle, the pinstripe, the cost of the vehicle, the vehicle inspection, the back-dating of the title, the and many misrepresentations made regarding the paint problem (R 127, 128, 248, 249, 250, 251, 252-53, 258, 293, 369, 376, 2060, 2063).

The paint misrepresentations included telling Schropp there was no pollution damage but only water spots (or no problem), the service manager claiming he watched the car being buffed when it had not been buffed, telling Schropp that Crown would buy back the car if he was not satisfied with the alleged special process, that Mercedes-Benz authorized the process, and Crown's contradictory assertions over whether or not a special process was performed to correct the defective paint (R 133, 134, 135, 265, 270, 280, 287, 288, 510-11, 629, 659, 671, 2026-27, 2051).

-11-

Crown emphasized credibility in its opening and closing to the jury and it repeatedly attacked Schropp (R 726-731, 1129-1145). Crown tried to argue both that there was no damage to the paint on the car and that, if there were, Schropp's sprinkler system had caused the damage (R 629, 641, 659, 738, 773, 910).

Crown revealed at trial that it had hired a private investigator to follow Schropp and to snoop around his residence (R 763-64, 789). The investigator testified that Schropp's sprinkler system must have been drawing rusty water from an underground well (which was hitting the car), because Schropp's driveway had rust stains, while his neighbors had no rust stains (R 763, 773, 775, 787). However, the prior owner of Schropp's house had service equipment which had stained the driveway (R 159).

More importantly, the Schropps did not even have a well, but used city water for their sprinkler system -- just like their neighbors (R 995). This decimated Crown's rusty water defense.

The willingness of Crown and its employees to say whatever it took was demonstrated at trial by Crown's claim that Schropp's own sprinklers allegedly caused the paint problem. Cohen testified that Crown learned of this early on, when Crown had parked a blue Mercedes in Schropp's driveway at the time it had picked up Schropp's car for service, and the blue car had come back with the same "water spot" problem (R 664). If this were true, Crown incredibly never bothered to pick up the phone and tell its dissatisfied customer it had located the source of the problem, despite its self-proclaimed dedication to customer service (R 665).

-12-

As noted, the specific misrepresentations regarding the paint included the statement by Crown's service manager (Woolridge) that he was watching someone buff the car on the second service visit when Lesnich later admitted the buffing machine was broken at the time (R 133, 134, 368; see also the repair invoice which showed Crown did not buff the car, at R 2051). When the service manager testified later in the trial, Crown never even sought to elicit a denial or explanation of this lie (R 940-943).

Crown and Cohen represented to Schropp that if a special process the manufacturer had authorized did not make the paint satisfactory to Schropp that "we are going to take the car back" (R 287-88). When whatever was done on the fourth service visit did not correct the paint defect to Schropp's satisfaction, this representation also turned out to be a lie (R 291).

The jury heard the details discussed above on Crown's misrepresentations about the "special process." The jury heard how Crown's misrepresentations about the special process and its promise to replace the car induced Schropp to give Crown the car after he had stated he did not want Crown to perform further work on it (R 282-83, 287-89, 2089).

The jury heard Crown's sworn interrogatory answers regarding the special process which it later contradicted at trial (R 510, 688, 1862, 2076-77).

The jury heard Cohen's sworn affidavit that "Mr. Schropp's allegations concerning any representations about any 'special process' are unfounded" (R 671, 1860). Yet, Cohen testified at

-13-

trial: "There was a special process done. It was not done by Mercedes-Benz of North America. It was something that we did, Crown did, to satisfy him with his permission." (R 673).

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