CHARLES P. SCHROPP,

Petitioner,

Case No. 83,522

vs.

CROWN EUROCARS, INC., d/b/a CROWN MERCEDES, and ROBERT COHEN,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CLAUDE H. TISON, JR. FL BAR NO. 106781 Macfarlane Ausley Ferguson & McMullen P. O. Box 1531 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 273-4200 Attorney for Crown Eurocars, Inc.

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

II. THIS COURT SHOULD DETERMINE THAT THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. ROBINSON, 472 SO.2D. 722 (1985), AND ON THAT BASIS DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

Schropp does not discuss this Court's jurisdiction in his brief, except perhaps by implication. He seems to assume that the certified question entitles him to a determination on the merits by this Court as to any issue that was involved in the appeal. That is not the case. This Court's jurisdiction on certified questions is discretionary. The fact that a question is certified does not, <u>ipso</u> <u>facto</u>, obligate this Court to undertake full-scale review. It may conclude that the question certified was not of great public importance, or it may conclude that the question has been already answered correctly and does not require further judicial labor. Crown submits that is the case here. The basis for the certification by the Second District Court of Appeals was Schropp's assertion that its decision conflicted with Winn-Dixie. As we have demonstrated above, there is no conflict; the two decisions are in entire harmony. Winn-Dixie does not espouse a "corporate culture" theory of punitive damages independent of any wrongful conduct by someone deemed to be the alter ego of the corporation. That being the case, there is no occasion for this Court to probe the evidence, as did the Court of Appeals, to determine whether it would justify imposing punitive damages on the basis of that nonexistent theory. The Court below concluded, after exhaustively reviewing the evidence, that none of Schropp's claims, singly or collectively, would support a finding of malice even under the

theory for which he contended. Although Crown's brief addresses that issue below, this Court need not replicate the labor of the Court of Appeals, where it is clear that the Court of Appeals did not misread <u>Winn-Dixie</u> and was not drawn into any conflict. Crown submits that this Court should, having determined that the Court of Appeals correctly read <u>Winn-Dixie</u>, declare the question certified to have been correctly answered by the Court of Appeals, declare no conflict between the decision below and <u>Winn-Dixie</u>, and dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

III. ASSUMING THAT WINN-DIXIE STORES, INC. V. ROBINSON, 472 SO.2D 722 (1985) AUTHORIZES A THEORY OF LIABILITY FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES DISTINCT FROM BANKERS MULTIPLE LINE INSURANCE CO. V. FARISH, 464 SO.2D 530 (FLA. 1985), THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD THAT SCHROPP'S EVIDENCE WOULD NOT SUPPORT PUNITIVE DAMAGES UNDER ANY SUCH THEORY.

At the outset we emphasize that our argument on this issue, like the Court of Appeals' analysis of it, is hypothetical. We acknowledge no validity in Schropp's reading of <u>Winn-Dixie</u>. We believe, as the Court of Appeals held, that a managing agent must have participated in the conduct claimed to warrant punitive damages (direct liability) or that the corporation was in some way independently at fault in connection with the conduct (vicarious liability). The remaining arguments in this brief assume that Schropp is correct in asserting there is a theory of corporate liability for punitive damages that requires neither. Even on that assumption, there is no basis for disturbing the finding of the Court of Appeals that Schropp presented insufficient evidence to justify punitive damages under such a theory.

Schropp relies primarily on the evidence regarding his negotiations with Cohen leading to the sale. We have already addressed the impropriety of his reliance on this evidence for any purpose, inasmuch as all claims relating to the negotiations were rejected by the jury. Schropp's attempt to treat himself as the prevailing party on Count II, especially, is ludicrous. His suggestion that the jury credited his evidence but decided that, in view of his settlement with MBNA, he had suffered no damage is at odds with settled principles regarding consideration of verdicts. Furthermore, the same reasoning would have required the jury to find against him on Count VI as well, since the object of the fraud alleged in Count VI was to induce Schropp to revoke his prior demand for refund or replacement and to agree to keep the car. The settlement with MBNA would have mooted that claim as much as it would have mooted the fraud in the inducement claim in Count II. The only sensible conclusion that can be reached from these verdicts is that the jury concluded that Cohen did not commit any fraud in the negotiations, that Schropp had not suffered any property damage, and that Cohen had not, in asking Schropp to return the car one last time for inspection by an MBNA representative, deprived or intended to deprive Schropp of his property but in some way had misled Schropp in connection with the request. It is therefore unnecessary to respond in detail to Schropp's extended and repeated accounts of the evidence he

presented in support of his claim of fraud in the negotiations. The jury's verdict conclusively resolves those claims against him.

When stripped of the protective cover of the evidence about the negotiations, Schropp can point to only one incident in which he claims that any employee of Crown acted wrongfully in any way. His wife testified that, on the first occasion after the sale when the car was returned to be buffed, Domer Woolridge, Crown's service manager, told her that he could see someone buffing the car and it should be ready within an hour, but when she arrived at the dealership she was told by Klaus Lesnich, a service technician, that the buffer had broken and she would have to bring the car back on another date. This, Schropp urges, demonstrates that Woolridge lied to Mrs. Schropp earlier and justifies punitive damages.

To begin, the claim about Domer Woolridge has nothing to do with Count VI, the only count on which Schropp prevailed even in part. Schropp, sensing this weakness, attempts in his brief to suggest that it was somehow an integral part of Count VI, arguing that the date of sale was a watershed event in the case, with anything that occurred after the date of sale being incorporated somehow into Count VI. That is directly contrary to the record, which shows that it was not the date of sale, but the date on which Schropp made a demand for refund or replacement, that divided all the events according to his theory at trial. The Domer Woolridge incident was pleaded (although Woolridge was not identified) in the complaint as a part of Count I for rescission based on failure to provide a vehicle that met new-car specifications. The paragraphs

referring to this first service visit were not incorporated into any subsequent count, although other allegations in Count I were incorporated in later counts. The only significance of the predemand service visits, as Schropp framed the issues, was in Crown's alleged failure to provide a satisfactory car.

Furthermore, the statements of Woolridge and Lesnich as related by Mrs. Schropp are not inconsistent. There was no evidence about when the buffer broke, whether before the work began or after, nor was there any evidence indicating whether the car had been partially buffed or was untouched. Lesnich's statement therefore is entirely consistent with the proposition that, at the time Woolridge spoke with Mrs. Schropp, the work had begun but could not be completed because the buffer broke. From this molehill Schropp attempts to create a mountain of punitive damages. It was not a focus of trial, occupying only a few lines of testimony, and Schropp never mentioned it as a basis for punitive damages in closing argument. (He did refer to the testimony once, briefly, early in closing argument while he outlined the evidence.)

Finally there was no evidence that would justify a conclusion that Woolridge was a managing agent of Crown, and Schropp did not so contend at trial. In his brief Schropp attempts to confer that status on Woolridge by placing the word "manager" in bold type. Bold type will not substitute for evidence, however. At trial Schropp made no inquiry about the nature of Woolridge's duties or the scope of his authority and responsibility. Schropp's evidence

on this point reduces to the fact that Woolridge, an employee whose status is undisclosed by the record, made a statement to Schropp's wife that could as well have been true as false.⁹

The remainder of Schropp's argument about Crown's "corrupt culture" is based not on events in any way related to Schropp's dealings with Crown but to the preparation for and conduct of trial. He berates Crown for "spying on its customers" and for making baseless allegations against him, without ever quite explaining what he means. The reference is to the fact that Crown presented substantial testimony, expert and non-expert, tending to show that any blemish in the finish of Schropp's car was attributable to Schropp's habit of leaving his car parked on the driveway in front of his garage next to sprinkler heads in an irrigation system that suffered from mineral pollution, together with the fact that he never washed it. The "spying" consists of having a photographer record the appearance of Schropp's mineralstained driveway in the course of trial preparation. It is a mystery how any of this could bear on Schropp's entitlement to

⁹ Schropp devotes much of his brief to castigating counsel for Crown for a portion of the reply brief in the Court of Appeals dealing with this argument. We do not see that this has anything to do with the issue on appeal, but point out that in Schropp's answer brief he referred only to a "repair invoice" that supposedly demonstrated the falsity of Woolridge's statement. As is evident from the reply brief, undersigned counsel took Schropp's reference to mean a repair invoice for the buffer rather than, as it turned out, a repair invoice for the car. Schropp clarified his point at oral argument, resulting in some embarrassment to undersigned counsel but certainly not confusion on the part of the Court of Appeals, which carefully distinguished the events of the various service visits and dismissed Schropp's claim for punitive damages based on Woolridge's statement as too trivial to warrant extended discussion.

punitive damages. Crown possessed competent substantial evidence related to the issue of causation, i.e., that Schropp habitually neglected the care of his car under adverse conditions, conduct which could be expected to have a deleterious effect on the finish and could have caused the condition of which he complained, a condition which no one but himself and his wife claims to have seen.

Although it has nothing to do with punitive damages, Schropp attacks Crown's attorney for having argued on appeal that Schropp entered into a stipulation at trial that resolved the disagreement about instructions. The circumstances are discussed fully at pages 5-10 of Crown's reply brief in the Court of Appeals. We noted there that it was unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to resolve the dispute about the stipulation, and the Court of Appeals did not resolve it, although it commented about the record indications of its probable existence. (Slip Op., note 6 and accompanying text at pp. 11-12) Like all of Schropp's arguments about how the trial and the appeal were conducted, it is irrelevant to the question of whether Crown's employees, individually or collectively, committed conduct warranting imposition of punitive damages.

Schropp's entire argument is founded on misdirection and concealment. The more his claims are exposed as being without evidentiary basis, the louder he shouts. Even under his "corporate culture" theory, there is no basis for punitive damages in this record.

IV. CROWN ADEQUATE PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW ITS CLAIM THAT THE EXONERATION OF COHEN REQUIRED JUDGMENT IN ITS FAVOR ON PUNITIVE DAMAGES

We are mystified by Schropp's statement that Crown acknowledged that it did not contemporaneously object to the verdict. The first thing that happened after the verdicts were read and accepted was Crown's objection, quoted in full in the Statement of the Case. Particularly in view of Judge Ficarrotta's express direction not to argue the objection but to file a written motion later, it is impossible to imagine what more Crown could have done.

After the briefs were filed in the Court of Appeals, Schropp recast his claim that Crown had not preserved the issue by filing a Notice of Supplemental Authority citing <u>Adoro Marketing, Inc. v.</u> <u>daSilva</u>, 623 So.2d 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) for the proposition that Crown should have asked that the jury be returned to the jury room for further deliberation on whether to impose punitive damages against Cohen. Assuming the correctness of <u>Adoro Marketing</u> on the facts before that Court,¹⁰ it obviously has no application here. <u>Adoro Marketing</u> did not deal with derivative liability, i.e., a situation where the liability of one party depends on the liability of another. It involved one plaintiff and one defendant, with

¹⁰ <u>Adoro Marketing</u> appears to be in conflict with cases such as <u>North American Catamaran Racing Assn., Inc. v. McCollister</u>, 480 So.2d 669 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), which held a defendant entitled to judgment on punitive damages on closely similar facts, where a jury had returned verdicts that were inconsistent on alternative but overlapping theories of liability.

multiple theories of liability on one set of facts. The jury returned a verdict finding no design defect but negligence in manufacture, where the evidence of negligence consisted essentially of design defect. The Court held that, because further deliberation could have clarified what the jury actually found, the defendant should have requested such an attempt.

Regardless of the propriety of jury reconsideration in those circumstances, Schropp's attempt to import it into a case of derivative liability founders on the fact that such reconsideration could not have been limited to issues between Crown and Schropp; the jury must reconsider their verdict in favor of Cohen absolving him from liability for punitive damages. But what of Cohen's rights in all this? He had a verdict in his favor, which had been accepted after the jurors swore that it was their true verdict. By what right could the judge, at the suggestion of either Crown or Schropp, have nullified Cohen's verdict and required the jury to reconsider whether they really intended to exonerate him from punitive damages? The Court in Adoro Marketing itself distinguished the situation there from situations involving derivative claims, where either the plaintiff's right to relief or the defendant's exposure to judgment depends on resolution of a claim involving another person. The only lawful way to obtain reconsideration of the verdict was for Schropp to appeal from it, which he did not do.

Schropp points to Crown's acquiescence in the verdict forms, as though the problem derived from the forms. It is quite true

that Crown agreed to have separate lines for Cohen and itself, but that has nothing to do with the issue. Separate lines were required because, as expressly stated in the instructions, the jury had authority to impose punitive damages against Cohen and not against Crown; it did not, however, have authority to impose punitive damages against Crown and not against Cohen. There was nothing to reconsider or clarify about the verdict as to Cohen; the jury expressly found that he did not commit any conduct warranting imposition of punitive damages against him. Having so found, they had no authority to consider punitive damages against Crown. That was the thrust of Crown's objection. There was nothing to reconsider, and any attempt to require reconsideration would have been an egregious violation of Cohen's rights.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, respondent Crown Eurocars, Inc. respectfully requests this Court to determine that the Second District of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied this Court's decisions in <u>Bankers Multiple Line Insurance Company v. Farish</u>, 464 So.2d 530 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Winn-Dixie Stores</u>, Inc. v. Robinson, 472 So.2d 722 (1985) and that there exists no conflict between the opinion below and this Court's decisions, and thereupon to dismiss the appeal for want of jurisdiction. Alternatively, in the event the Court assumes jurisdiction, respondent respectfully requests

that the judgment of the Court of Appeals be affirmed.